IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CASE NO. 2008-CP-01078

FILED

TRAVIS WICKER

AUG 0 1 2008

APPELLANT

VERSUS

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

APPELLEE

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

AN APPEAL OF A CONVICTION OF AGGRAVATED ASSAULT, BY A PLEA OF GUILTY, AND SENTENCE OF TWENTY YEARS WITHIN THE CUSTODY OF THE MISSISSIPPI DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF RANKIN COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

APPELLANT IS CURRENTLY INCARCERATED

TRAVIS WICKER #54276
East Miss. Corr. Facility
10641 Highway 80 West
Meridian, MS 39307



IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF MISSISSIPPI CASE NO. 2008-CP-01078

TRAVIS WICKER

APPELLANT

VERSUS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES
STATEMENT OF THE CASE
STATEMENT OF THE FACTS
ARGUMENT

- I. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN DISMISSING APPELLANT'S CLAIM THAT HIS FUNDAMENTAL OR CONSTITUTIONSL RIGHT AGAINST DOUBLE JEOPARDY WAS AFFECTED AND VIOLATED.
- II. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN DISMISSING APPELLANT'S CLAIM THAT HIS FUNDAMENTAL OR CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO BE TRIED ONLY ON CHARGE FOUND OR MADE BY A GRAND JURY IN AN INDICTMENT WAS AFFECTED AND VIOLATED.
- III. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN DISMISSING APPELLANT'S CLAIM THAT HE WAS CONVICTED ON THE BASIS OF A GUILTY PLEA THAT WAS THE PRODUCT OF INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL, WHICH VIOLATED HIS FUNDAMENTAL OR CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.
- IV. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERED IN DISMISSING APPELLANT'S POST-CONVICTION, AND THE ISSUES THEREIN, ON THE BASIS THAT IT WAS PROCEDURALLY TIME BARRED.

CONCLUSION CERTIFICATE EXHIBITS

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1.

Petitioner was convicted upon a plea of guilty in the Circuit Court of Rankin County, Mississippi of MURDER and Aggravated Assault, and sentenced to LIFE imprisonment for the MURDER cause #4911, Twenty (20) years for Aggravated Assault in Cause #4912, and Twenty (20) years for Aggravated Assault in Cause # 5208.

2.

The judgement(s) and sentence(s) were entered in the Circuit Court on or about the 30th day of November, 1995.

3.

On July 26, 2007, Wicker caused a Motion To Vacate Unconstitutional Conviction and Sentence to be filed within the Circuit Court Of Rankin County, Miss.

4.

On May 9, 2008, the Circuit Court "DISMISSED" Wicker's Motion To Vacate Unconstitutional Conviction And Sentence.

5

Wicker filed a timely Notice Of Appeal with the Circuit Court on May 16, 2008.

6.

On June 24, 2008, this Court (The Court Of Appeals) issued a "Notice Of Briefing Schedule" giving Wicker Forty (40) days to submit the brief of the appellant.

7.

This, the brief of the appellant, Wicker, summarily follows.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN DISMISSING APPELLANT'S CLAIM THAT HIS FUNDAMSNTAL OR CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT AGAINST DOUBLE JEOPARDY WAS AFFECTED AND VIOLATED.
- 2. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN DISMISSING APPELLANT'S CLAIM THAT HIS FUNDAMENTAL OR CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO BE TRIED ONLY OF CHARGE FOUND OR MADE BY A GRAND JURY IN AN INDICTMENT WAS AFFECTED AND VIOLATED.
- 3. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN DISMISSING APPELLANT'S CLAIM THAT HE WAS CONVICTED ON THE BASIS OF A GUILOTY PLEA THAT WAS THE PRODUCT OF INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL, WHICH VIOLATED HIS FUNDAMENTAL OR CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.
- 4. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN DISMISSING APPELLANT'S POST-CONVICTION, AND THE ISSUES THEREIN, ON THE BASIS THAT IT WAS PROCEDURALLY TIME BARRED.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

- (A) Wicker was indicted on two (2) separate charges with two (2) separate indictments for both Capital Murder and Aggravated Assault.
- (B) The indictment for Count I charged Wicker with the specific charge of Capital Murder/ section 97-3-19(2)(f) with the Felonious Abuse of A Child/ Section 97-5-39 as the underlying offense, against **Karen Bond**.
- (C) The indictment for Count II charged Wicker with the specific charge of Aggravated Assault/ Section 97-3-7(2) against Barbara Wicker.
- (D) On November 30, 1995, Wicker withdrew his plea of not guilty and entered a plea of guilty to the criminal offense of Murder in Cause #4911. Wicker also withdrew his plea of not guilty and entered a plea of guilty to the criminal offense of Aggravated Assault as charged in Count II/ Cause #4912 on the same said date, November 30, 1995.

FACTS NOT WITHIN THE APPELLANT'S PERSONAL KNOWLEDGE

- (E) The specific facts not within the appellant's personal knowledge involve those related to why or how he was unduly charged and sentenced to Twenty (20) Consecutive years for an offense, (Aggravated Assault/ section §97-3-7(2) in cause #5208 against Karen Bond), that he was never charged for nor that he pled guilty to.
- (F) The claims set forth in this Brief will be proven by the testimony and the records in cause numbers 4911, 4912, and 5208.
- (G) Wicker hereby verifies that he has read the contents of the Brief and verifies, states and certifies under the penalty of perjury that the same are true and correct and made upon his personal knowledge.

ARGUMENT

FIRST ISSUE

THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN DISMISSING APPELLANT'S CLAIM
THAT HIS FUNDAMENTAL OR CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT AGAINST DOUBLE
JEOPARDY WAS AFFECTED AND VIOLATED

In this claim Wicker claims that his fundamental or constitutional right against double jeopardy was affected and violated.

Wicker contends that it was impermissible, and violates the double jeopardy clause to charge him with the crimes of both Murder and Aggravated Assault because the aggravated assault was encompassed in, and made a predicate act for, the Murder. Wicker contends that this is especially so where the acts occurred at the same point in time, and both acts were directed at the same person.

The facts of the Indictment(s) and the Bill Of Information shows that Wicker was charged for both Murder and Aggravated Assault of Karen Bond, because on a particular day Wicker assaulted Karen Bond while carrying out Murder. See: Indictment(s) and Bill Of Information attached as Exhibits A and B. It is clear that the prosecutions case was based on the theory that Wicker assaulted a person in murdering that same person.

The question is whether Wicker may be punished for a section $\S{97-3-19}$ violation by a sentence of LIFE imprisonment and thereafter by a consecutive Twenty (20) year sentence for section $\S{97-3-7(2)}$ violation for aggravated assault of the same person.

Wicker contends that based upon the principles of double jeopardy embodied in both the Fifth Amendment to the Constitution of the United States and section 22 of the Mississippi Constitution of 1880, the charge of Aggravated Assault against Karen Bond in Cause #5208, should have been dismissed.

This court must determine whether, under these facts, if the Murder Charge in Count I and Aggravated Assault charge in Count II, constitute the "same offense".

See: Blockburger v. U.S. 299, 52 S. Ct. 180, 76 L. Ed. 306 (1932)

Under Blockburger, supra, the objective elements of each offense must be examined. The test to be applied is whether each provision requires proof of a fact which the other does not.

After a careful examination of both the Murder statute and the Aggravated Assault statute, it is clear that Wicker's right against double jeopardy was violated. There is no way that Wicker could be guilty of violating the murder statute without violating the aggravated assault statute. The elements that are necessary, in order to violate the aggravated assault statute, are necessarily included within the Murder statute. See: State v. Umfleet, MO. App., 538 S.A. 2d 55, 59.; Jones v. State, 66 Miss. 380, 6 so 2d 231, 232 (1889).

The state of Mississippi placed Wicker in Jeopardy for the assault of Karen Bond when it charged him in Count I with murder of Karen Bond. Having done this, the state could not at once put Wicker in further jeopardy in the form of consecutive punishment for that legally discrete combination of conduct constitution the murder of Karen Bond. Yet, the state did so in Count III, Aggravated Assault of Karen Bond.

The record reflects that Wicker was indicted for Capital Murder, Count I, of Karen Bond. By resons thereof, the constitution precludes the state punishing Wicker further for the Aggravated Assault of Karen Bond via Count III.

Based on the above mentioned facts and law, Wicker asks that this Court grant this his Appeal and Vacate the said charge of Aggravated Assault as charged in Count III and the Sentence of Twenty (20) Consecutive Years.

SECOND ISSUE

THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN DISMISSING APPELLANT'S CLAIM
THAT HIS FUNDAMENTAL OR CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO BE TRIED ONLY
OF CHARGE FOUND OR MADE BY A GRAND JURY IN
AN INDICTMENT WAS AFFECTED AND VIOLATED

Wicker's complaint is that he was never indicted or his indictment failed to charge the offense as to <u>Count III</u>

(Aggravated Assault of Karen Bond), for which he was unduly convicted and sentenced to Twenty consecutive years for, thereby violating his Fifth Amendment Right to grand jury indictment.

It is well settled that "under the Fifth Amendment, a criminal defendant has a right to be tried only on charges contained in the indictment returned by a grand jury." Miller, 116 f. 3d at 669.; see also: Russell v. U.S. 749, 770, 8 L. Ed 2d 240, 82 S. Ct. 1038 (1962).

Amendment V of the U.S. Constitution states that:

"No person shall be held to answer for a Capital, or otherwise infamous crime, unless on a presentment or indictment of a Grand Jury...."

U.S. Constitution, Amendment V, Id.

The record in this case shows that Wicker was indicted for Capital Murder/Abuse of a Child section $\S 97-3-19(2)(f)$ of Karen Bond and Aggravated Assault/Section $\S 97-3-7(2)$ of Barbara Wicker.

However, on November 30, 1995, after Wicker pled guilty to Count I and Count II, he was also convicted and sentenced for an additional charge (Aggravated Assault §97-3-7(2), of Jaren Bond, Count III also.

See: Judgement of Conviction and Sentence Instanter as to Count III attached hereto as Exhibit *C".

Wicker contends that he was never indicted for this additional charge nor did he plea guilty to this additional charge. Wicker also contends that he never waived his right to a Grand Jury Indictment, which is evident by the plea Agreement itself. The plea agreement as to Count III reads in part that:

Petition to plead guilty as to Count III, Id., Attached hereto as Exhibit "9" .

This evidence conclusively proves that Wicker never waived his right to an indictment regarding this. It is clear from the petition to plead guilty that Wicker was under the impression that he was pleading guilty to and being sentenced for the charges in the indictment.

For the reasons stated above and herein, this Court is constrained to grant this Appeal and should order that Wicker's conviction and sentence for Aggravated Assault of Karen Bond in County III be Vacated.

THIRD ISSUE

TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DISMISSING APPELLANT'S CLAIM
THAT HE WAS CONVICTED ON THE BASIS OF A GUILTY PLEA THAT
WAS THE PRODUCT OF INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL,
WHICH DENIED HIM HIS FUNDAMENTAL OR CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO
EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL

Wicker contends that he was convicted on the basis of a guilty plea that was the product of ineffective assistance of counsel, which denied him his fundamental or constitutional right to effective assistance of counsel.

The evidence of the record shows the following:

- (1) Wicker was indicted for the charges of Capital Murder/Felony Abuse or Battery Of A Child, Section §97-3-19(2)(f), Count I against Karen Bond and Aggravated Assault/Section §97-3-7(2), Count II against Barbara Wicker. See: Indictments attached hereto as Exhibits *A" and *E"
- (2) On November 30, 1995, Wicker, with the advice of his counsel, withdrew his plea of not guilty and entered a plea of GUILTY to the charges of Murder in Count I and Aggravated Assault in Count II. See: Judgement of Conviction and Sentence Instanter(s) attached hereto as Exhibit(s) and
- (3) Wicker was sentenced to LIFE imprisonment for Count I/ MURDER of Karen Bond and Twenty (20) Consecutive Years for Count II/ Aggravated Assault of Barbara Wicker. See: Judgement of Conviction and Sentence Inatanter(s) attached hereto as Exhibit(s)*F" and 'C".
- (4) However, Wlcker was sentenced to an additional TWENTY (20) Consecutive Years for an additional AGGRAVATED ASSAULT CHARGE, COUNT III? AGAINST KAREN BOND, that his counsel did not advise him that he would be sentenced for, that he did not plea guilty to, nor that he was indicted for. See:

 Judgement of Conviction and Sentence Instanter for Count III attached hereto as Exhibit `C'' .

This evidence conclusively establishes that Wicker, relying on his counsel's advice and knowledge, caused two (2) things: (1) Wicker to plead guilty to a charge that he knew nothing about

nor agreed to plead guilty to; and (2) Wicker to be convicted and sentenced to TWENTY (20) Consecutive additional years for this additional charge.

The question now becomes: Was Wicker's fundamental right to counsel and effective assistance of counsel, affected or violated?

It is well settled that counsel's competence is presumed, and the defendant must rebut this presumption by proving that his attorney's represention was unreasonable under prevailing professional norms and that the challenged action was not sound strategy. Kimmelman, 477 U.S. at 384 [20][21].

But Wicker presents evidence here that overcomes any presumption that counsel was competent. It cannot be sound strategy for an attorney to mislead her client into pleading guilty to specific charges, while knowing before the fact, that her client would be pleading guilty to and sentenced for an additional charge if he does plead guilty; nor can it be sound strategy for an attorney to advise or mislead her client to plead guilty to, and ultimately sentenced for, a charge that violates the-double jeopardy clause. See: First Issue In Support Of This.

In the present case Wicker demonstrates with the utmost clarity that his counsel's assistance was ineffective under the standards of Strictland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984) and Hill V. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 88 L. Ed. 2d 203, 106 S. Ct. 366 (1985).

In Hill v. Lockhart, the United States Supreme Court held that:

"The long standing test for determining the validity of a guilty plea is whether the plea represents a voluntary and INTELLIGENT choice among the alternative course of action open to the defendant."

Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52(1985) citing North Carolina v. Alford, 400 U.S. 25(1970); Boykin v. Alabama, 395 U.S. 238(1969); Machibroda v. U.S., 487, 493 (1962)>

The court in Hill v. Lockhart, went on to say that:

"Where a defendant is represented by counsel during the plea process and enters a plea upon the advice of counsel, the voluntariness of the plea depends on whether counsel's advice "was within the range of competence demanded of attorneys in criminal cases"."

Hill v. Lockhart, Id., citing McMann v. Richardson, 397 U.S. 759, 771 (1970).

It was shown earlier how counsel for Wicker misled him into pleading guilty to an additional charge that he knew nothing about.

The course of action taken by counsel for Wicker was not "within the range of competence demanded of attorneys in criminal cases", Hill V. Lockhart, Id., thereby prejudicing Wicker's case and making his plea involuntary and not intelligently entered.

For a guilty plea to be voluntary and intelligently entered, a defendant must be advised about the nature of the crime charged against him and the consequences of the guilty plea. See: Banana v. State, 635 so 2d at 854 (1994).

Counsel for Wicker never advised him of this additional charge nor did she advise him that he would be pleading guilty to this charge also if he changed his plea to guilty.

Wicker contends that if his counsel had advised him of this additional charge he would have insisted on going to trial instead of pleading guilty.

It is abundantly clear that under the standards of Hill v. Lockhart, Wicker's attorney's misleading tactics and failure to advise him of the nature of this additionl crime charged against him and the consequences of the guilty plea, put at risk both Wicker's Fundamental or Constitutional rights to and/or effective assistance of counsel, and the reliability of the plea process.

It is clear that Wicker's Counsel's deficient performance was prejudicial as a matter of both fact and law.

For these reasons, this court should find that Wicker's fundamental rights to counsel and effective assistance of counsel were affected and/or violated and should grant this his post-conviction relief petition and vacate the conviction and sentence as to COUNT III.

ISSUE FOUR

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DISMISSING APPELLANT'S POST-CONVICTION, AND THE CLAIMS THEREIN, AS PROCEDURALLY TIME BARRED

In this case the appellant claimed that his fundamental or constitutional right against Double Jeopardy, To be Tried Only On Charge Found And Made By A Grand Jury In An Indictment, and To Effective Assistance Of Counsel, were affected and violated.

Wicker contends that all of these claims fall within the exceptions of the (3) Three year statute of limitations period, as demonstrated below:

A. THE DOUBLE JEOPARDY CLAIM

In <u>Fuselier v. State</u>, 654 so 2d 519, 522 (Miss. 1995), the court specifically found that although the double jeopardy violation was procedurally barred, the procedural ber does not prevent review and relief on a double jeopardy claim because double jeopardy involves a fundamental constitutional right.

The Supreme Court has also said that a showing of a fundamental constitutional error is exempt from the time bar found in Miss. Code Ann. §99-39-5(2) and the successive writ bar found in Miss. Code Ann. §99-39-27(9). See:Lockett v. State, 656 so 2d 76, 83 (Miss. 1995).

Wicker has demonstrated that case-law has carved out an exception to the procedural bar when it comes violating a defendant's fundamental constitutional right against double jeopardy.

APPELLANT'S RIGHT TO BE TRIED ONLY OF CHARGE FOUND AND MADE BY A GRAND JURY IN AN INDICTMENT

Wicker has already shown that a showing of a fundamental or constitutional error is exempt from the time bar in §99-39-5(2) and exempt from the successive writ bar in §99-39-27(9). See again:Lockett v. State, 656 so 2d 76, 83 (Miss. 1995).

Smith V. State, 477 so 2d 191 (Miss. 1985) specifically states that:

"... errors affecting fundamental rights are exceptions to the (procedural bar) rule ..."

Id. at 195 [3] [4] [5] [6], citing Read v. State, 430 so 2d 832 (Miss. 1983; Brooks v. State, 209 Miss. 150, 46 so 2d 94 (1950).

Accordingly, from the case-law presented above, itv is clear that a showing that a fundamental or constitutional right has been affected overcomes a procedural bar.

C.

APPELLANT'S RIGHT TO EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL

The Mississippi Supreme Court has said that "errors affecting fundamental constitutional rights may be excepted from procedural bars which would otherwise prohibit their consideration. See: Kennedy v. State, 732 so 2d 184 (¶8) (Miss. 1999).

In <u>Beville v. State, 669 so 2d 14 (Miss. 1996)</u> our Supreme Court said that although a mere raising of ineffective assistance of counsel claim is in sufficient to surmount procedural bars, a demonstration of the ineffective assistance of counsel would surmount procedural bars. In the subsequent case of <u>Hymes v. State, 703 so 2d 258 (Miss. 1997)</u>, the Miss. Supreme Court made it clear that the procedural bar was surmounted and the prisoner was allowed to proceed on his claim of ineffective assistance of counsel because counsel's brief on appeal was totally incoherent.

In <u>Kimmelman</u>, the U.S. Supreme Court said that the right of an accused to counsel is beyond question a "Fundamental Right". <u>Id.</u> at 377, quoting Gideon, 372 U.S. at 344, 83 S. Ct at 796. The Supreme Court went on to say in the <u>Kimmelman</u> case that the right to counsel includes the right to effective assistance of counsel. The court said:

"In other words, the right to counsel is the right to effective assistance of counsel."

Id. at 377, citing Evitts v. Lucey, 469 U.S. 387, 395-396 (1985). It therefore follows that the right to effective assistance of counsel is a fundamental right as a matter of law. And where this court declared that errors effecting fundamental rights are exceptions to the procedural bar rules, so is the fundamental right to counsel and effective assistance of counsel.

Thus Wicker was and is entitled to have his counsel claims considered on the merits, as a matter of law.

In conclusion Wicker's Post-Conviction and the claims therein should not have been dismissed as procedurally time barred and be reconsidered.

CONCLUSION

Based on the issues and case-law dictated above, this court should reverse the decision of the trial court and vacate the conviction of Aggravated Assault in Count III Cause #5208 and sentence of (20) Twenty Consecutive Years.