FILED

TRAVIS WICKER

AUG 2 0 2008

APPELLANT

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

VS.

NO. 2008-CP-1078

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: W. GLENN WATTS

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR N

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

PROCEDURAL HISTORY:

On November 30, 1995, Travis Wicker, "Wicker" with the benefit of counsel, Mr. James A. Bobo and Mrs. Vicky Williams, pled guilty to murder and aggravated assault before the Circuit Court of Rankin County. C.P. 50-54; 57-59. Wicker was given a life sentence and a consecutive twenty year sentence in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections. C.P. 34-35; 37-38; 98-99.

On July 26, 2007, Wicker filed a "Motion To Vacate His Convictions and Sentences" which was denied. C.P. 6-60; 80-84. From that denial of relief, he filed notice of appeal to this court. C.P. 101.

ISSUES ON APPEAL

I.

WAS WICKER PROCEDURALLY BARRED BY THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS OF 'THE UPCCRA'?

II.A.

WAS WICKER SUBJECTED TO DOUBLE JEOPARDY?

II.B

WAS WICKER PROPERLY CHARGED BY CRIMINAL INFORMATION?

II.C.

DID WICKER RECEIVE EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL?

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On March 21, 1995, Wicker was indicted for capital murder of Karen Bond, a child, in that he did kill and murder the child while engaged in the felony crime of felonious child abuse of a child.

C.P. 29.

The record reflects that Wicker and his guilty plea counsel acknowledged "Waiver of Indictment" and receipt and review of "a Criminal Information" for aggravated assault filed by the Rankin County District Attorney. C.P. 87. A copy of the indictment and "The Criminal Information" for aggravated assault of Karen Bond were included in the record. C.P. 29; 85.

On November 30, 1995, Wicker with the benefit of counsel, Mr. James A. Bobo and Mrs. Vicky Williams, pled guilty to murder and aggravated assault before the Circuit Court of Rankin County. C.P. 50-54; 57-59.

Wicker filed two separate "Petitions To Enter A Guilty Plea." C.P. 50-54; 57-59. In those petitions Wicker acknowledged knowing that he was pleading guilty to the lesser charges of simple murder and aggravated assault. C. P. 51; 57. He acknowledged knowing the life and twenty year maximum sentences for murder and aggravated assault respectively. He acknowledged that he was guilty of having murdered the child victim as well as having assaulted her with a shot gun which did not at that time result in her death. C.P. 51;57.

He acknowledged knowing that by pleading guilty he was waiving his right to a trial with right of cross examination and a right against self incrimination. He acknowledged that he had not been coerced or promised anything in exchange for his guilty plea. C.P.47; 52. He admitted that he was "satisfied with the advise and counsel they have given me." C.P. 47; 52. This was for the advise and counsel provided by his guilty plea counsel team, Mr. Bobo and Ms. Williams. C.50-54; 57-59.

After advising and questioning Wicker and his guilty plea counsel team, the trial court found that his guilty pleas were "freely, voluntarily and intelligently made" and that "there is a factual basis" for his two separate pleas. C.P. 35; 38.

The trial court, Judge John B. Toney, sentenced Wicker to a life sentence for murder and a twenty year consecutive sentence for aggravated assault. These judgments of conviction were filed on "November 30, 1995." C.P. 34-35; 37-38; 98-99.

On July 26, 2007, Wicker filed a "Motion To Vacate Unconstitutional Conviction and Sentence." C.P. 6-23. On April 11, 2008, the Rankin County district attorneys' officer responded to that motion pointing out that Wicker was barred by the statute of limitations under M. C. A. §99-39-5 (2) (1972) of the Mississippi Uniform Post Conviction Collateral Relief act, "the UPCCRA." The prosecution also believed that the record indicated a lack of merit to any of Wicker's three claims for relief. C.P. 75.

On May 9, 2008, the trial court issued an Order denying relief, finding no merit to Wicker's complaints. The trial court found that Wicker was barred by 'the UPCCRA' and that his claims for relief were also lacking in merit. C.P. 80-84. Those claims were based upon an alleged double jeopardy violation, due process violation for use of criminal information rather than indictment and alleged ineffective assistance of counsel.

From that denial of relief, Wicker filed notice of appeal to the Mississippi Supreme Court. C.P. 101.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

- 1. The record clearly reflects that Wicker's motion was barred by M. C. A. § 99-39-5(2) of 'the UPCCRA.' Wicker's motion came more than "three years after entry of his judgments of convictions." C.P. 6-60. There was no claim and a lack of evidence in support of any claim as to any exception for avoiding the three year statute of limitation. Wicker is therefore barred by the statute of limitations.
- 2. In addition, the record reflects no evidence or grounds for relief on the merits. The record contains no affidavits relevant to Wicker's claims of unconstitutional convictions and sentences. C.P. 6-60.
- A. There was no basis for a claim of double jeopardy where the elements of the aggravated assault charge are different from the elements for the murder felony. And this is true even if the two separately charged crimes occurred close in time to each other at the crime scene.
- B. The criminal information was valid for putting Wicker on notice as to the two separate reduced charges, which he acknowledged understanding in his two separate "Petitions To Enter a Guilty Plea." These pleas were for the separate charge of murder and aggravated assault. C.P. 50-54; 57-59; 87.

The record reflects that Wicker filed a "Waiver of Indictment." In that waiver, he consented to have his case proceed without the need for a formal indictment. C. P. 87. He admitted "receipt" and review of "this bill of information" from the Rankin County District Attorney. C.P. 87. He admitted that he was guilty of the aggravated assault of Karen Bond. C.P. 57.

C. The record reflects no basis for any claim of ineffective assistance. Wicker acknowledged being "satisfied" with the services provided by his guilty plea counsel team." C.P. 52; 58. The record also reflects that as a result of their advise, counsel and dialogue with the prosecution, Wicker avoided a possible death penalty. C.P. 51.

Wicker also acknowledged a factual basis for his plea of guilty to murder, as well as for his plea of guilty to aggravated assault. C.P. 46; 51. Wicker also acknowledged that the had not been coerced or promised anything in exchange for his guilty plea. C.P. 47; 52.

There is a lack of evidence for finding that the result of Wicker's guilty plea would have been different based upon Wicker's unsubstantiated charges against his guilty plea hearing team.

ARGUMENT

PROPOSITION I

THE RECORD REFLECTS THAT WICKER IS TIME BARRED BY 'THE UPCCRA.'

The record reflects that Wicker's entry of judgments of conviction for murder and aggravated assault was on "November 30, 1995." C.P. 34-35; 37-38; 98-99. Wicker filed his "Motion To Vacate For Alleged Unconstitutional Conviction and Sentence" on "July 25, 2007." C.P. 6-60. Therefore, under the provisions of "the UPCCRA" this motion was filed more than "three years after entry of his judgment of convictions." In fact, it came some ten years after these judgments were entered.

In addition, there was no claim of recently discovered evidence or of any relevant new intervening decision or case that would have adversely effected the outcome of his guilty plea hearing. C.P. 6-60.

In **Odom v. State**, 483 So. 2d 343, 344 (Miss. 1986), the court stated under the Uniform Post Conviction Collateral Relief Act, a petitioner/ prisoner only has three years to apply for relief. Unless, his case falls under the exceptions provided, which are for newly discovered evidence or for a relevant intervening decision, he is time barred.

We would also point out that in dismissing the petition, the trial judge erroneously applied the three year statute of limitations provided for under the Mississippi Uniform Post-Conviction Collateral Relief Act (UPCCRA), Miss. Code Ann. Sect. 99-39-1 et seq (Supp 1985). This act applies prospectively from its date of enactment, April 17, 1984. Individuals convicted prior to April 17, 1984, have three years from April 17, 1984, to file their petition for post conviction relief. Those individuals convicted after April 17, 1984, generally have three (3) years in which to file a petition for relief as provided for in the UPCCRA, Miss. Code Ann. Sect 99-39-5(2)(Supp. 1985), which states:

A motion for relief under this chapter shall be made within three (3) years after the time in which the prisoner's direct appeal is ruled upon by the supreme court of

Mississippi or, in case no appeal is taken, within three years after the time for taking an appeal from the judgment of conviction or sentence has expired, or in case of a guilty plea, within three years after entry of the judgement of conviction. Excepted from this three year statute of limitations are those cases in which the prisoner can demonstrate either that there has been an intervening decision of the Supreme court of either the state of Mississippi or the United States which would have actually adversely affected the outcome of his conviction or sentence or that he has evidence, not reasonably discoverable at the time of trial, which is of such nature that it would be practically conclusive that had such been introduced at trial it would have caused a different result in the conviction or sentence. Likewise, excepted are those cases in which the prisoner claims that his sentence has expired or his probation, parole or conditional release has been unlawfully revoked.

The appellee would submit that the record indicates that Wicker's motion, as correctly stated by the Office of the District Attorney and in the trial court's order denying relief was barred as untimely under the provisions of the Mississippi Uniform Post Conviction Collateral Relief Act.

PROPOSITION II A, B AND C.

A. THERE WAS NO DOUBLE JEOPARDY VIOLATION.

The record reflects that Wicker acknowledged in his "Waiver of Arraignment" that he was waiving any requirement of formal indictment. He also acknowledged "receipt" of "the Criminal Information" filed by the Rankin County District Attorney. C.P. 87.

I consent to and request that the case against me proceed on waiver of indictment and bill of information filed by the District Attorney. C.P. 87.

The criminal information was for "the aggravated assault of Karen Bound." This was specifically for assaulting the child with the butt end of a shot gun which did not by means of that blow result in the death of the child victim. C.P. 32.

By acknowledging that he was guilty of assaulting the child victim with the shot gun wooden stock, he was also acknowledging that this assault with a deadly weapon did not at that time result in the death of the victim. C.P. 57.

In **Graves v State**, 969 So 2d 845 (¶14) (Miss. 2007), the Supreme Court found that the two separate crimes could be committed at the same time as long as elements of one crime were separate and apart from the elements necessary for establishing the facts of the other. Therefore charging Graves with shooting into a vehicle as well as with aggravated assault did not expose him to double jeopardy.

The Appellee would submit that the record reflects that this assault with a deadly weapon which resulted in injuries to the victim were separate from the other separate actions which actually resulted in the death of the child victim.

The Appellee would submit that this issue is also lacking in merit.

В.

THERE WAS EVIDENCE THAT WICKER WAS PROPERLY CHARGED WITH MURDER AND AGGRAVATED ASSAULT.

The record contains a sworn "Waiver of Indictment" which was signed by Wicker and his counsel, Ms. Vickie Williams, in the record of this cause. C.P. 87. It waived any requirement for a formal indictment for aggravated assault.

I consent to and request that the case against me proceed on waiver of indictment and bill of information filed by the District Attorney. C.P. 87.

It also contained acknowledgment by Wicker that he had received a copy of "The Criminal Information," which is also contained in the record. C.P. 32; 87. That criminal information was for "the aggravated assault of Karen Bound." This was specifically for assaulting the child with the butt end of a shot gun which did not by means of that blow result in the death of the child victim. C.P. 32.

In addition, in Wicker's "Petition To Enter a Guilty Plea" to aggravated assault, he acknowledged knowing the aggravated assault charge was separate and apart from the murder charge for which he as also pleading guilty. C.P. 46. As stated, "I did knowingly or intentionally cause bodily injury to another, Karen Bond, with a deadly weapon by striking her in the head with a shotgun. However, the blow to the head did not cause the death of Karen Bond. This act occurred in Rankin County, Mississippi." C.P. 46; 57.

In McCullen v State, 786 So. 2d 1069 (Miss. App. 2001), the Court of Appeals pointed out that a bill of information was the equivalent of an indictment.

Therefore, the Appellee would submit that this issue was not only barred by the statute of limitations, but is also lacking in merit.

C. THERE WAS EVIDENCE OF EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.

In his motion, Wicker also claimed that he received ineffective assistance of counsel from his guilty plea counsel team, Mr. Bobo and Ms. Williams. He alleges that they were ineffective because they allowed him to be plead guilty to a separate charge "that he knew nothing about." C.P. 19. This was a charge that resulted in Wicker having an additional sentence added to the sentence he received for murder. C.P. 19.

The record reflects that Wicker acknowledged in his "Waiver of Indictment" that he was waiving any requirement for a formal indictment for aggravated assault. He consented to have his case proceed under "a Bill of Information filed by the District Attorney." C.P. 87.

In addition, in his Petition he acknowledge knowing that he was charged with the separate crime of aggravated assault. This was more particularly explained as the aggravated assault of Karen Bond by hitting her in the head with the butt end of a shot gun which did not at that time result in her death. C.P. 46.

In his "Petitions To Enter a Guilty Plea," Wicker acknowledged that was guilty of the aggravated assault with a rifle butt of the victim as well as the murder of the victim. C.P. 51; 57. This was acknowledged in two separate Petitions. C.P. 51;57.

In addition, Wicker acknowledged that he "was satisfied with the advice and counsel they have given me." C.P. 47; 52. The record reflects that as a result of his guilty plea counsels efforts on his behalf, Wicker avoided a possible death penalty.

In **Lindsay v. State**, 720 So. 2d 182, 184 (Miss. 1998), the Court stated that an ineffective assistance claim is deficient when supported only by a defendant's affidavit. The record reflects no affidavits or any informal statement by Wicker of any proposed witness who could testify in support

of his claims for relief, C.P. 6-60.

In Ferguson v. State, 507 So. 2d 94, 97 (Miss. 1987), quoting Strickland, 466 U S at 687, 104 S. Ct. 2052, the Court pointed out that where there was a lack of evidence that the alleged deficiencies of guilty plea counsel undermined confidence in the reliability of the proceedings, the claim would fail. There is no such evidence in the instant cause.

Although it need not be outcome determinative in the strict sense, it [deficient assistance of counsel] must be grave enough to 'undermine confidence' in the reliability of the whole proceeding.

Therefore, this issue was not only waived, it was also lacking in merit.

CONCLUSION

This Court should affirm the trial court's denial of relief on grounds of procedural bar as well as lacking in merit for the reasons cited in this brief.